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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

This report provides an archaeological baseline study for the client, Western Way Developments Ltd, to 

accompany an application for a Strategic Housing Development (SHD) a site at 36-40 Dominick Street Upper, 

Dublin 7. The development will comprise of a shared living scheme on a 0.32 hectare site, enclosed by 

Dominick Street Upper, Western Way and Palmerston Place. 

The site is located adjacent to the former course of the Royal Canal and was the location of the 19th century 

tŀƭƳŜǊǎǘƻƴ IƻǳǎŜΦ ¢ƘŜ ǎƛǘŜ ƛǎ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ōȅ IŜƴŘǊƻƴΩǎΣ ŀ ŦƻǊƳŜǊ showroom and workshop, the Hendrons 

Building (and western railings) and the boundary wall of the application site on Western Way are protected 

structures (RPS Nos. 8783 and 8483). The architectural heritage of the application site will be the subject of 

a separate report by Rob Goodbody (see Heritage Conservation Report). 

There are no recorded archaeological sites within the site boundaries, and it lies outside of the Zone of 

Archaeological Potential for the City of Dublin (RMP no.: DU018-020). 

The site functioned as agricultural land until c. 1840 and it is possible that cultivation ridges may survive as 

they have done at a nearby site on Granby Lane and Dominick Place. Palmerston House was constructed c. 

1840, with associated geometric gardens. Cartographic evidence and adjacent houses on Dominick Street 

suggest there may have been a cellar. Evidence of this cellar, gardens and other structures within the 

application site may survive beneath the ground level, with the former site of the house now occupied by 

ǎǳǊŦŀŎƛƴƎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƴƻǊǘƘ ŀƴŘ ǿŜǎǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǎƛǘŜΦ ¢ƘŜ мфплΩǎ IŜƴŘǊƻƴΩs building, however, may have truncated 

much of the surviving features on the southeast portion of the site. 

An adjacent borehole was excavated approximately 6m from the site boundary, revealing possible natural 

ǎǳōǎƻƛƭ ŀǘ ŀ ŘŜǇǘƘ ƻŦ мΦнƳ ό[ƛŎŜƴŎŜ ƴƻΦΥ мм9лпрфΤ hΩ5ƻƴƻǾŀƴ нлмнύΦ ¢Ƙƛǎ ŘŜǇǘƘ Ƴŀȅ ŜȄǘŜƴŘ ŀŎǊƻǎǎ ǘƘŜ ǎƛǘŜΣ 

with the caveat that basement levels were dug into the subsoil. 

It is recommended that archaeological monitoring of topsoil stripping be undertaken on the site in order 

identify and record subsurface remains of the 19th century Palmerston House and associated features, 

including basements, foundation levels and garden features. 
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1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. General 

This report provides an archaeological baseline study for the client, Western Way Developments Ltd, to 

accompany an application for a Strategic Housing Development (SHD) for shared living scheme on a site at 

36-40 Dominick Street Upper, Dublin 7. The development will comprise of a shared living scheme on a 

0.3285 hectare site, enclosed by Dominick Street Upper, Western Way and Palmerston Place (Fig. 1). 

 

Figure 1  Site location 

The site is located adjacent to the former course of the Royal Canal and was the location of the 19th century 

tŀƭƳŜǊǎǘƻƴ IƻǳǎŜΦ ¢ƘŜ ǎƛǘŜ ƛǎ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ōȅ IŜƴŘǊƻƴΩǎΣ ŀ ŦƻǊƳŜǊ ǎƘƻǿǊƻƻƳ ŀƴŘ ǿƻǊƪǎƘƻǇ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ ǊŜŎƻǊŘŜŘ 

on the National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH survey no.: 50070389) and is enclosed on the 

north and west by a stone wall which is a protected structure (RPS no.: 8483; NIAH no.: 50070386). The 

architectural heritage of the application site will be the subject of a separate report by Rob Goodbody (see 

Heritage Conservation Report). ¢ƘŜ IŜƴŘǊƻƴΩǎ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎ ƛǎ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘŜŀǎǘŜǊƴ ǇƻǊǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǎƛǘŜΣ 

while the north and west are occupied by tarmacadam and concrete surfacing (Fig. 2). 

There are no recorded archaeological sites within the proposed development site boundaries and it lies 

outside of the Zone of Archaeological Potential for the City of Dublin (RMP no.: DU018-020). 
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Figure 2  Google Earth Satellite image, 2018 

1.2. Development description 

The proposed development comprises demolition of the existing warehouse buildings and no. 36 Dominick 

Street Upper and retention of the Hendrons Building as part of an overall redevelopment of the site to 

accommodate a build-to-rent shared living scheme and publicly accessible neighbourhood uses (including 

café/shop, gym and yoga studios). The scheme will include; 280 no. shared living rooms (281. no bedspaces), 

internal and external amenity space over 5 no. blocks ranging in height from 5 no. storeys to 9 no. storeys, 

secure bicycle parking, site-wide landscaping, ESB substation and switch-room and site development works 

all on the 0.3285 hectare site. The site includes the Hendrons Building (and western railings) protected 

structure no. 8783 and the boundary wall of the application site on Western Way, protected structure no. 

8483. 

2. ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

2.1. Landscape 

¢ƘŜ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ǎƛǘŜ ƛǎ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǘƘŜ tŀǊƛǎƘ ƻŦ {ǘΦ DŜƻǊƎŜΩǎΣ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ .ŀǊƻƴȅ ƻŦ 5ǳōƭƛƴ, but was historically 

part of the Barony of Coolock. 
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The area was drained by the Bradogue River, named after Glas mo CanocΣ ƻǊ /ŀƴƻŎΩǎ {ǘǊŜŀƳΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ 

depicted on the Down Survey map of the Barony of Coolock (1655). Later maps are unclear as to the 

location of the river. It is depicted in tƘŜ мумр Ψtƭŀƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƛǘȅ ƻŦ 5ǳōƭƛƴΩ όƴƻǘ ǎƘƻǿƴύ ƭŜŀŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘe 

ƴƻǊǘƘǿŜǎǘ ŎƻǊƴŜǊ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ǊƻŀŘǎǘƻƴŜ IŀǊōƻǳǊΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƘƛǎ ƛǎ ŀƭǎƻ ǎƘƻǿƴ ƻƴ 5ǳƴŎŀƴΩǎ ƳŀǇ ƻŦ мунм όFig. 6). It 

ǿŀǎ ŎǳƭǾŜǊǘŜŘ ōŜƴŜŀǘƘ ǘƘŜ ƘŀǊōƻǳǊ ŀǎ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘΣ ōǳǘ 5ǳƴŎŀƴΩǎ ƳŀǇ ŀǇǇŜŀǊǎ ǘo show it re-

emerging and flowing southwest of and parallel to Upper Dominick Street. Dublin City Council Drainage 

Drawings also suggest the culverted river is in that location (RPA 2013, 6). 

Hachures ƻƴ 5ǳƴŎŀƴΩǎ ƳŀǇ appear to suggest a valley associated with the river, with some of these 

hachures appearing within the application site. This would be supported by investigations in advance of 

the LUAS Cross City Development, which indicated a depth of over 9.3m of deposited material over the 

culverted river at Broadstone (Licence no.: 14E0018) and that it is contained within a red brick culvert 5m 

below current ground level under Constitution Hill (RPA 19). It appears, therefore, that the site occupied 

an elevated location, overlooking the Bradogue River and valley on the south. Even following the 

development of the area in the 18th and 19th centuries, contours on historical mapping (Figs. 9,.10, 12) 

illustrate that the application site was the highest point on Dominic Street, which would have made it a 

desirable location for the 19th century Palmerston House. 

2.2. Prehistory 

None of the nearby archaeological investigations have revealed evidence of prehistoric activity in the 

vicinity, nor are there any registered prehistoric ƳƻƴǳƳŜƴǘǎ ƴŜŀǊōȅΦ wƻŎǉǳŜΩǎ ƳŀǇ ƻŦ мтрс όFig. 5) shows 

ŀƴ ǳǇǊƛƎƘǘ ŦŜŀǘǳǊŜ ƛƴ ŀƴ ƻǇŜƴ ŦƛŜƭŘ ǿƘŜǊŜ YƛƴƎΩǎ Lƴƴǎ ƛǎ ƴƻǿ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ and it has been speculated that this 

may have been a standing stone (Powell 2005, 5), although it may equally have been a later folly. Standing 

stones are often located at important points on routeways, such as approaches to fording points. 

.ǊƻŀŘǎǘƻƴŜ ƛǎ ƴŀƳŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ Ψ.ǊƻŀŘ {ǘƻƴŜΩ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŦǳƴŎǘƛƻƴŜŘ ŀǎ ŀ Ƴŀƴ-made crossing point on the River 

Bradogue (RPA 2013), and it is possible that if it were a standing stone it may have been associated with a 

crossing point on the river. 

2.3. Medieval Period 

Constitution Hill, to the west of the application site, is thought to be a routeway of Early Medieval date and 

may have formed part of the Slighe Midhluachra, one of the five ancient roadways of Ireland, and it 

ŜǾƛŘŜƴǘƭȅ ŎǊƻǎǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ wƛǾŜǊ .ǊŀŘƻƎǳŜ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ Ψ.ǊƻŀŘ {ǘƻƴŜΩΦ 

The application site is located approximately 700m west of the site of a potential Viking cemetery (RMP 

no.: DU018-020495). The site was recorded in an essay in the Dublin Magazine in June 1763 which referred 

to the discovery of human remains, spears, rivets and swords during the construction of the Rotunda 

Gardens, Cavendish Row and Granby Row, with further discoveries made on Parnell Square North (RPA 
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2014). Much of the activity related to the Battle of Clontarf in 1014 occurred inland at Clonliffe (Ball 1920, 

153), and it is possible that this site represents a burial ground associated with the battle. 

The lands north of the River [ƛŦŦŜȅ ǿƻǳƭŘ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƭŀƴŘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŘƛŜǾŀƭ {ǘΦ aŀǊȅΩǎ !ōōŜȅΣ ōǳǘ 

no features have been noted further north than Parnell Street where medieval cultivation ridges were 

identified at the junction of Moore Street and Parnell Street (Licence no.: 98E0357). 

2.4. Post Medieval Period 

Historical mapping (Section 4) indicates that the application site comprised of agricultural land until the 

муолΩǎ. Dominick Street is named after Sir Christopher Dominick, who started building in the area in 1720. 

Construction began on the Dominick Street Lower portion after his death in 1743. Dominic Street Upper 

was developed from the 1820s, but remained largely undeveloped until the Broadstone railway terminus 

was built. It was quite an upmarket location, with much of it being part of the estate of Henry John Temple, 

third Viscount Palmerton and twice British Prime Minister. Palmerston House / Terrace, which occupied 

the application site, was one of his residences. He rarely visited Ireland, living principally in Brocket Hall in 

Hertfordshire and his London townhouse, Cambridge House, on Piccadilly in Mayfair. He also held an 

extensive estate in County Sligo. Palmerston House / Terrace was one of the first buildings constructed on 

the street, with further sites for villas and terraces offered in the 1860s. 

Palmerston House was constructed between 1837 and 1843 on the highest point of Dominick Street and 

comprised of a long building with a south-westerly aspect (Figs. 8-12). It was accessed from Upper Dominick 

Street by a short series of steps, with another set of steps leading to the main entrance. The 1847 map (Fig. 

9) shows ornate gardens to the front and rear, but these had been removed in favour of a simpler 

arrangement by 1864 (Fig. 10). Many of the houses on Dominick Street were designed with cellar / 

basement levels, and it is possible that Palmerston House would similarly have been constructed in this 

fashion, particularly given the presence of steps at the entranceway. 

The Royal Canal Company was established to manage the construction of the Royal Canal north of the River 

Liffey. The main canal is located 950m to the north, with the Broadstone Branch extending southwards 

from the 5th lock at Cross Guns Bridge. The Broadstone Branch was completed in 1796, at which time 

construction of the harbour commenced. Height differences between Constitution Hill and the harbour at 

Broadstone required an aqueduct to be built, Foster Aqueduct, which carried the canal over the road to 

the harbour. The harbour opened in 1806, and canal was initially used for freight and passenger travel, 

with No. 1-2 Royal Canal Terrace functioned as a hotel for canal passengers and workers. 

A Cholera epidemic affected Dublin in 1832, having spread from India through Russia and Europe from 

1817. The garden of the Richmond Penitentiary at Grangegorman was reserved for use as an overflow 

cemetery in the event of an outbreak, and was consecrated when the epidemic struck. The neighbouring 
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Female Penitentiary was also used as a Cholera hospital at this time. Part of the cemetery was revealed in 

excavations in advance of the LUAS Cross City development (King-Moylan 1945, 57; Moraghan & Ruddy 

206; hΩ5ƻǿŘ ϧ aƻǊŀƎƘŀƴ нлмтύ. 

The Midland Great Western Railway (MGWR) developed a train station at Broadstone from 1841, and 

purchased the Royal Canal in 1845. The intention was to decommission the canal and use its bed for a new 

railway line, but they were required under the terms of the sale to maintain the canal and construct the 

railway lines parallel to the canal instead. Passenger access to the railway was provided over the canal by 

means of a floating pontoon bridge, constructed from 1846-1847. The canal eventually ceased trading in 

1847, owing to the prohibitive cost of operation, allowing further development of the MGWR 

infrastructure. The MGWR terminus building was constructed in 1850, and a further expansion in 1870 

involved the addition of a new boundary wall, railway sidings and an engine shed in land acquired from 

Grangegorman Prison. There are reports of the discovery of burials within these lands related to the 1932 

Cholera epidemicΣ ŀƴŘ ŜȄŎŀǾŀǘƛƻƴ όhΩ5ƻǿŘ ϧ aƻǊŀƎƘŀƴ нлмтΤ [ƛŎŜƴŎŜ ƴƻΦΥ мр9Υлмурύ Ƙŀǎ ǎƘƻǿƴ ǘƘŀǘ ƳǳŎƘ 

of the cemetery was scarped back at this time, requiring the re-interment of the burials. In 1877, the MGWR 

was given permission to close 150 yards of the canal branch line and to construct a new forecourt for the 

train station by infilling the canal harbour. The remaining sections of the Broadstone Branch were infilled 

in 1927 (RPA 2013). 

Western Way was created as a circulation route in 1878, linking Constitution Hill to the south-west with 

Mountjoy Street to the east. The new approach road was built over Foster aqueduct, which was no longer 

required after the decommissioning of the canal, with Saint Mary's Chapel of Ease, or the Black Church, as 

its eastern focal point. The road curves around the site of former Palmerston House at the north-west 

corner of Dominick Street Upper. The road is lined by fine cast-iron railings and granite gate piers (RPS no.: 

8483; NIAH no.: 50070386), and initially functioned as a private, gated road. The aqueduct was demolished 

in 1951 (www.buildingsofireland.ie; RPA 2013). 

3. ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITES 

3.1. RMP / SMR Sites 

There are no registered monuments within the application site. The closest recorded monuments are a 

cluster of houses (RMP nos.: DU018-020516-8, DU018-020534) on Henrietta Street which date to the 18th 

century and are some of the earliest houses related to the expansion of the city into this area. 

The application site lies outside of the Zone of Archaeological Potential for the City of Dublin (RMP no.: 

DU018-020) as the area was not developed until the 19th century, but parts of nearby Constitution Hill and 

Henrietta Street fall within this zone.  
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A possible Viking burial ground (RMP no.: DU018-020495) is located approximately 700m to the east in the 

vicinity of the Rotunda Gardens, Cavendish Row and Granby Row, but the exact location is unknown. 

 

Figure 3  RMP / SMR sites 

3.2. Archaeological Investigations 

This area of Dublin City was undeveloped until the 18th century, and excavations in the vicinity have 

revealed features related to the Georgian streetscape and the industrialisation of the Broadstone area, 

including the remains of the Broadstone Branch of the Royal Canal and the subsequent development of 

the Midlands Great Western Railway. Excavation summaries are included in Appendix 2 of this report. 

The development of the LUAS line adjacent to the application site involved considerable archaeological 

investigations, most notably at Broadstone (Licence nos.: 10E0090, 12E0310, 14E0018, 14E0410, 15E0185, 

15E0271, 15E0337). The Broadstone Branch of the Royal Canal terminated in a harbour, which was 

completed in 1796. The walls of the canal and harbour were identified, as well as a jetty associated with a 

floating pontoon bridge which provided pedestrian access, and the remains of the Foster Aqueduct on 

Constitution Hill which carried the canal water to the harbour. The later railway infrastructure, following 

the infill of the harbour in 1877, was also identified. Features included railway lines and sleepers, railway 

buildings and brick piles. It was also determined that a depth of at least 9.3m of infill existed above the 

Bradogue River, which had been culverted in the 18th century development of the area. 

Excavations at Grangegorman (Licence no.: 15E0185; Moraghan & Ruddy 2016) revealed part of the 

Cholera graveyard related to the 1832 epidemic. Twenty-seven grave cuts remained with thirty individuals, 

and disturbed remains were also discovered in charnel pits. Further eȄŎŀǾŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǘ .ǊƻŀŘǎǘƻƴŜ όhΩ5ƻǿŘ ϧ 

Moraghan 2017; Licence no. 15E0185) revealed that the Cholera cemetery extended into the lands 

acquired by MGWR in 1870 from the Richmond Penitentiary. The groundworks had significantly disturbed 

the burials and necessitated their re-interment. Extensive disturbed and disarticulated remains were found 




























